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JEFF L. THIGPEN, Individwally K
and as Register of Deeds of Guilford )
County; THE REVEREND RANDALLJ. )
KEENEY, Individually and as Rector )
of Saint Barnabas Episcopal Church; )
THE REVEREND JULIE PEEPLES, )
Individually and as Pastor of The )
Congregational United Church of )
Christ; THE REVEREND DOCTOR )
DANIEL G. KOENIG, Individually )
and as an Ordained Pastor of The ) COMPLAINT
Lutheran Church Missouri Synod; )
MARY JAMIS: STARR JOHNSON: )
FRANK L. BENEDETTL; THOMAS G. )
TROWBRIDGE; CAROLYN S. )
WEAVER: BURL S. BRINN, JR.; )
ALAN BRILLIANT; and the classes )
which they represent as more particularly )
defined herein, )

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

Plaintiffs,
V.

ROY A. COOPER, 111, Attorney
General of the State of North Carolina,

Defendant.

Plaintiffs, complaining of defendant, allege and say:
1. Plaintiff Jeff L. Thigpen is a citizen and resident of Greensboro, Guilford
County, North Carolina, and is the duly elected, qualified, and acting Register of Deeds of

Guilford County.



2 Plaintiff The Reverend Randall J. Keeney is a citizen and resident of
Greensboro, Guilford County, North Carolina, and is the rector of Saint Barnabas Episcopal
Church in Greensboro, Guilford County, North Carolina.

. Plaintiff The Reverend Julie Peeples is a citizen and resident of Greensboro,
Guilford County, North Carolina, and is the pastor of the Congregational United Church
of Christ in Greensboro, Guilford County, North Carolina.

4. Plaintiff The Reverend Doctor Daniel G. Koenig is a citizen and resident of
Greensboro, Guilford County, North Carolina, and is an ordained, but retired, pastor of The
Lutheran Church Missouri Synod, who in retirement is called upon to, from time to time,
and does, carry out marriage ceremonies.

5. Plaintiff Mary Jamis is a citizen and resident of Mocksville, Davie County,
North Carolina.

6. Plaintiff Starr Johnson is a citizen and resident of Mocksville, Davie County,
North Carolina.

1. Plaintiff Frank L. Benedetti is a citizen and resident of Winston-Salem,
Forsyth County, North Carolina.

B. Plaintiff Thomas G. Trowbridge is a citizen and resident of Winston-Salem,
Forsyth County, North Carolina.

9. Plaintiff Carolyn S. Weaver is a citizen and resident of Greensboro, Guilford
County, North Carolina.

10.  Plaintiff Burl S. Brinn, Jr., is a citizen and resident of Gre;ensbﬂm, Guilford

County, North Carolina.



11.  Plaintiff Alan Brilliant is a citizen and resident of Greensboro, Guilford
County, North Carolina.

12. Defendant is a citizen and resident of Wake County, North Carolina, and is
the duly elected, qualified, and acting Attorney General of the State of North Carolina. It
is his capacity and duty to defend the validity of the statutes of the state of North Carolina.

13.  N.C.GS. § 51-1 requires that all marriages in the state of North Carolina be
ceremonially solemnized by an ordained minister of a religious denomination or a
magistrate, or in some other way recognized by religious denominations, or Indian nations
or tribes.

14. N.C.GS. § 51-6 makes it unlawful and criminally punishable, for any
minister, or officer, or other person authorized to solemnize a marriage, to perform a
ceremony of marriage, without receiving a license for the marriage signed by the county
register of deeds, and it is the minister’s or oificer’s duty to fill out the license, attest to the
solemnization of the marriage, and allow the license to be presented to the register of deeds
for recording.

15.  Article 1, § 13, of the Constitution of the State of North Carolina provides,
“All persons have a natural and inalienable right to worship Almighty God according to the
dictates of their own consciences, and no human authority shall, in any case whatsoever,
control or interfere with the rights of conscience.” This section has been interpreted by the
Supreme Court of North Carolina, not only to protect freedom of religion, but also to
establish separation between church and state, in Heritage Village Church & Missionary

Fellowship, Inc., v. State, 299 N.C. 399, 263 S.E.2d 726 (1980).



16.  TheFirst Amendment to the Constitution of the United Statesand 42 US.C.
§ 1983 prohibit interference with the free exercise of religion, as well as the establishment
of religion, by the government.

17.  The ceremonial solemnization of marriage is either a sacrament or a
fundamentally important religious exercise, in accordance with the principles of all
religious denominations; and, therefore, the freedom of religious marriage celebration is
protected by both the federal and state constitutions. Persons wishing to marry also have
the constitutional right not to participate in a religious ceremony of marriage or any
marriage ceremony at all.

18.  The right of a heterosexual couple to marry is a firmly established
constitutional right, protected by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Zablocki v. Redhail, 434 U.S. 374 (1978); Loving v.
Virginia, 388 U.S. 1 (1967), and by Articte I, § 19, of the North Carolina Constitution.

19.  The right of same-sex couples to cohabit and engage in physical sexual
activities in private is a clearly established constitutional right, under the Fourteenth
Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, Lawrence v. Texas, 539 U.S. 558
(2003), and Article I, § 19, of the North Carolina Constitution.

20.  Because the right of heterosexual couples to marry is a fundamental
constitutional right, the state of North Carolina cannot interfere with that right in N.C.G.S.
§§ 51-1 and 51-6 in the absence of a compelling governmental interest. There is no

compelling governmental interest for the state to require a ceremonial marriage, performed



either by a magistrate or a pastor, priest or rabbi, or for the state to require that marriage be
licensed and registered.

21.  Because the right of same sex couples to cohabit is a fundamental
constitutional right, the state of North Carolina cannot interfere with that right in the
absence of a compelling governmental interest. There is no compelling governmental

interest for the state either to require or prohibit that their marriage be licensed and
registered.

2_2 The state of North Carolina acts unconstitutionally in N.C.G.S. §§ 51-1 and
51-6, with respect to pastors, priests, and rabbis performing marriage ceremonies, in three
respects. First, It is unconstitutional for the state to make the pastor, priest, or rabbi an
agent of the state for the purpose of carrying out the ceremony and participating in the
submission of the state-granted license for the marriage, since this amounts to a state
establishment of religion. Second, it is unconstitutional for the state to require individuals
who are entering into marriage, to participate in a ceremony prescribed by the state, and to
participate in the licensing of the marriage, since this violates freedom of religion. Third,
it is unconstitutional for the state to make it unlawful for a pastor, priest, or rabbi to
solemnize the marriage of same-sex couples.

23.  In order adequately and fully to protect the personal liberty and religious
freedom of citizens of North Carolina and the United States, there must be a de-coupling
and disentanglement of the state from the personal and religious institution of marriage.
The institution of marriage should be solely in the dominion of citizens and their religious

and secular organizations, except that the state should be permitted to carry out prohibitions



of marriage for infancy, insanity, bigamy or polygamy, and incest, and marriage as a result
of fraud, duress, joke, or mistake; and the state should be permitted to adjudicate rights
relating to support, child custody, and property in connection with marriages and their
dissolution.

24.  Itis well established that adult and competent people will make their own
living arrangements, treating them as marriages or civil unions, whether or not the state
recognizes them, tries to prohibit them, or tries to compel them; that they will enter into
these arrangements either with or without religious ceremonies, in accordance with their
preferences; and that they will register them or not register them with the state in
accordance with their preferences; and when these relationships break down or become
problematic, they may seek the state’s aid in resolving issues of child custody, support, and
property. Some, but not all, religious denominations, as a part of the exercise of their
religious faith and practices, will support some or all of their members’ desires and
preferences expressed above.

25.  Plaintiff Jeff L. Thigpen, as Register of Deeds of Guilford County, North
Carolina, and as a citizen of North Carolina and the United States, objects and finds it
morally and constitutionally repugnant to administer a system which requires all persons
entering into marriage to have licenses that will be recorded; to obligate pastors, priests,
and rabbis who are performing marriage ceremonies to perform them pursuant to licenses
issued by the state; and to require either the religious or civil solemnization of marriages.
Plaintiff acts as a class representative on behalf of all of the registers of deeds of North

Carolina, as provided in Rule 23(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, since these persons



constitute a class so numerous as to make it impracticable to bring them all before the
court, and he will fairly insure the adequate representation of all the members of the class.

26.  Plaintiff The Reverend Randall J. Keeney believes it to be in violation ofhis
religious rights, the religious rights of his church, and the religious rights of persons for
whom he performs marriages, to require that he act as an agent of the state in solemnizing
the marriages and participating in the licensure thereof, and when he acts illegally and
subject to punishment if he marries persons ceremonially without having their marriages
licensed by the state. This plaintiff and his church are willing to solemnize the marmages
of same-sex couples. This plaintiff and his church are willing to solemnize the marnages
of persons who ;ju not wish to have their marriages licensed and registered.

27.  Plaintiff The Reverend Julie Peeples believes it to be in violation of her
religious rights, the religious rights of her church, and the religious rights of persons for
whom she performs marriages, to require that she act as an agent of the state in solemnizing
the marriages and participating in the licensure thereof, and when she acts illegally and
subject to punishment if she marries persons ceremonially without having their marriages
licensed by the state. This plaintiff and her church are willing to solemnize the marriages
of same-sex couples. This plaintiff and her church are willing to solemnize the marriages
of persons who do not wish to have their marriages licensed and registered.

28.  Plainiiffs The Reverend Randall J. Keeney and The Reverend Julie Peeples
sue on behalf of a class, as provided in Rule 23(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure,
consisting of all pastors, priests, and rabbis who share their beliefs as set out above and who

are willing to carry out same-sex marriage ceremonies. The persons constituting this class




are so numerous as to make it impracticable to bring them all before the court, and these
plaintiffs will fairly insure the adequate representation of all of the members of the class.

29.  Plaintiff The Reverend Doctor Daniel G. Koenig believes it to be in
violation of his religious rights, the religious rights of his church, and the religious rights
of persons for whom he performs marriages, to require that he act as an agent of the state
in solemnizing the marriages and participating in the licensure thereof, and when he acts
illegally and subject to punishment if he marries persons ceremonially without having their
marriages licensed by the state. This plaintiff and his church are willing to solemnize the
marriages of persons who do not wish to have their marriages licensed and registered. This
plaintiff’s religious denomination declines to perform marriage ceremonies for same-sex
couples, just as it is a right of other religious communities to exercise their beliefs to the
contrary. Plaintiff The Reverend Doctor Daniel G. Koenig sues on behalf of a class, as
provided in Rule 23(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, consisting of all pastors, priests,
and rabbis who share his church’s beliefs as set out above and who are not willing to carry
out same-sex marriage ceremonies. The persons constituting this class are so numerous as
to make it impracticable to bring them all before the court, and these plaintiffs will fairly
insure the adequate representation of all of the members of the class.

30.  Plaintiffs Mary Jamis and Starr Johnson are same-sex domestic partners and
have been for 12 years, who desire to have a ceremonial marriage, albeit a non-religious
one, and if it were lawful, would like to be able to register their marriage. Pursuant to Rule
23(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, these plaintiffs sue on behalf of a class consisting of

all similarly situated persons in the state of North Carolina, these plaintifis’ class being so



numerous as to make it impracticable to bring them all before the court, and these plaintiffs
fairly insuring the adequate representation of all the members of the class.

31. Plaintiffs Frank L. Benedetti and Thomas G. Trowbridge are same-sex
domestic partners and have been for 47 years, who desire to have a religious ceremonial
marriage, and if it were lawful, would like to be able to register their marriage. Pursuant
to Rule 23(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, these plaintiffs sue on behalf of a class
consisting of all similarly situated persons in the state of North Carolina, these plaintiffs’
class being so numerous as to make it impracticable to bring them all before the court, and
these plaintiffs fairly insuring the adequate representation of all the members of the class.

32. Plaintiffs Carolyn S. Weaver and Burl 5. Brinn, Jr., desire to have areligious
ceremonial marriage, but are unwilling to have their marriage done pursuant to a state-
issued license, because they are both permanently and totally disabled and are receiving
medicaid benefits which would be cut off if they were married to each other pursuant to a
state license. These plaintiffs proceed pursuant to Rule 23(a) of the Rules of Civil
Procedure with this lawsuit on behalf of a class consisting of all similarly situated persons
in the state of North Carolina, these plaintiffs’ class being so numerous as to make it
impracticable to bring them all before the court, and these plaintiffs fairly insuring the
adequate representation of all the members of the class.

33.  Plaintiff Alan Brilliant is unmarried, but may wish to enter into marriage in
the future. He is heterosexual, and if he were to marry, would marry a woman. This
plaintiff finds it morally and constitutionally repugnant to be required to participate in any

type of ceremony required by the state, or to have his marriage licensed without his



agreement and consent, believing that these legal requirements violate his rights of personal
and religious freedom. Plaintiff Brilliant sues on behalf of a class, as provided in Rule
23(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, constituting all persons in the state of North Carolina
who may wish to marry members of the opposite sex, but be freed of the requirement to
engage in ceremonial marriages and be freed of the requirement to have their marriages
registered. The persons constituting this class are so numerous as to make it impracticable
to bring them all before the court, and this plaintiff will fairly insure the adequate
representation of all of the members of the class.

34.  The provisions of N.C.G.S. §§ 51-1 and 51-6 referred to herein interfere
with the freedom of religion and constitute a state establishment of religion, in violation of
Article 1, § 13, of the North Carolina Constitution, and the First Amendment to the United
States Constitution and 42 1J.8.C. § 1983; and amount to the deprivation of personal liberty
in violation of Article 1, § 19, of the North Carolina Constitution and the Fourteenth
Amendment to the United States Constitution and 42 U.5.C. § 1983.

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs and the members of their classes pray that the court
enter its declaratory judgment pursuant to Rule 57 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, and
Article 26 of Chapter 1 of the North Carolina General Statutes, that the provisions of
N.C.G.S. §§ 51-1 and 51-6 referred to herein are in violation of Article 1, §§ 13 and 19 of
the Censtitution of North Carolina, and the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the
Constitution of the United States and 42 U.S.C. § 1983; that the costs of this action be

taxed against defendant, including plaintiff’s reasonable attorneys’ fees in accordance with
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